## GEOMETRIC-PROGRESSION-FREE SETS OVER QUADRATIC NUMBER FIELDS

# ANDREW BEST, KAREN HUAN, NATHAN MCNEW, STEVEN J. MILLER, JASMINE POWELL, KIMSY TOR, AND MADELEINE WEINSTEIN

ABSTRACT. In Ramsey theory one wishes to know how large a collection of objects can be while avoiding a particular substructure. A problem of recent interest has been to study how large subsets of the natural numbers can be while avoiding 3-term geometric progressions. Building on recent progress on this problem, we consider the analogous problem over quadratic number fields.

We first construct high-density subsets of the algebraic integers of an imaginary quadratic number field that avoid 3-term geometric progressions. When unique factorization fails or over a real quadratic number field, we instead look at subsets of ideals of the ring of integers. Our approach here is to construct sets "greedily," a generalization of the greedy set of rational integers considered by Rankin. We then describe the densities of these sets in terms of values of the Dedekind zeta function.

Next, we consider geometric-progression-free sets with large upper density. We generalize an argument by Riddell to obtain upper bounds for the upper density of geometricprogression-free subsets, and construct sets avoiding geometric progressions with high upper density to obtain lower bounds for the supremum of the upper density of all such subsets. Both arguments depend critically on the elements with small norm in the ring of integers.

#### CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
2. Rankin's Greedy Set	2
3. Greedy Set over Quadratic Number Fields	3
3.1. Two Universal Bounds	7
3.2. Greedy Set Avoiding Geometric Progressions with Ratios in $\mathbb{Z}$	7
4. Bounds on the Upper Density	9
4.1. Upper Bounds for the Upper Density	9
4.2. Improvements on Upper Bounds for the Upper Density	10
4.3. Lower Bounds for the Maximal Upper Density	13
5. Conclusions and Future Work	15
References	18

*Date*: November 17, 2015.

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 11B05, 11B75, 11Y60, 05D10, 11R04, 11R11.

Key words and phrases. geometric-progression-free sets, Ramsey theory, quadratic number fields.

This research was conducted as part of the 2014 SMALL REU program at Williams College and was supported by NSF grant DMS1347804 and DMS1265673 and Williams College. We would also like to thank the participants of the SMALL REU for many helpful discussions.

### 1. INTRODUCTION

In 1961, Rankin [9] introduced the problem of constructing large subsets of the integers which do not contain geometric progressions. A set is free of geometric progressions if it does not contain any three terms in a progression of the form  $\{n, nr, nr^2\}$  and  $r \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ . A simple example of such a set is the squarefree integers, which have density  $6/\pi^2 \approx 0.60793$ . Rankin constructed a larger set, with asymptotic density approximately 0.71974. Modifying the construction of this set slightly, (see [4]) one can get a small improvement, producing a set with density about 0.72195. It is not known what the greatest possible asymptotic density of such a set is, however several authors have considered sets with greater upper asymptotic density. Riddell [10], Brown and Gordon [2], Beiglböck, Bergelson, Hindman, and Strauss [1], Nathanson and O'Bryant [6] and most recently the third named author, [4], have improved the bounds on the greatest possible upper density of such a set. It is now known that the greatest possible upper density of such a set. It is now known that the greatest possible upper density of such a set lies between 0.81841 and 0.81922. Other papers have also considered progressions which are allowed to have rational ratios, however that will not be pursued further here.

In this paper, we generalize the problem to quadratic number fields. We study the geometric-progression-free subsets of the algebraic integers (or ideals) and give bounds on the possible densities of such sets. In an imaginary quadratic field with unique factorization we are able to consider the possible densities of sets of algebraic integers which avoid 3-term geometric progressions, and so we have chosen to pay special attention to those fields. Most of our results also apply to the ideals of any quadratic number field, however, which we also state when possible. We begin by characterizing the "greedy" geometric-progression-free sets in each case, and then give bounds for the greatest possible upper density of such a set. We conclude our paper with some numerical data and several open questions.

## 2. RANKIN'S GREEDY SET

Let  $G_3^* = \{1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 21, 22, 23, ...\}$  (see OEIS A000452 [8]) be the set of positive integers obtained greedily by including those integers which do not introduce a 3-term geometric progression with the integers already included in the set. Rankin [9] characterized  $G_3^*$  as the set of those integers with prime exponents coming only from the set,  $A_3^* = \{0, 1, 3, 4, 9, 10, 12, 13, \ldots\}$  (see OEIS A005836 [8]), of nonnegative integers obtained by greedily including integers which avoid 3-term arithmetic progressions. The set  $A_3^*$  consists of those integers which do not contain a 2 in their base 3 expansion.

This characterization shows that the inclusion of any given integer in the set  $G_3^*$  depends solely on the powers of the primes in its prime factorization. Thus, to find the density of  $G_3^*$ , one needs only consider the density of those integers which contain only primes raised to acceptable powers in their prime factorization. Because the acceptable powers are the integers in  $A_3^*$ , we have, for a fixed prime p, that the density of the positive integers whose factorization contains an acceptable power of p is given by

$$\left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)\sum_{i\in A_3^*}\frac{1}{p^i} = \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)\prod_{i\geq 0}\left(1+\frac{1}{p^{3^i}}\right).$$
(2.1)

By the Chinese remainder theorem, we can then compute the asymptotic density of  $G_3^*$  as an Euler product over all primes:

$$d(G_3^*) = \prod_p \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right) \prod_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(1 + \frac{1}{p^{3^i}}\right) \\ = \prod_p \left(1 - \frac{1}{p^2}\right) \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1 - \frac{1}{p^{2 \cdot 3^i}}}{1 - \frac{1}{p^{3^i}}} \\ = \frac{1}{\zeta(2)} \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{\zeta(3^i)}{\zeta(2 \cdot 3^i)} \approx 0.71974.$$
(2.2)

Thus the supremum of the densities of all geometric-progression-free subsets of the natural numbers is bounded below by 0.71974.

## 3. Greedy Set over Quadratic Number Fields

We begin by generalizing Rankin's calculation of the density of the greedy set of integers to the algebraic integers  $\mathcal{O}_K$  over a quadratic number field,  $K = Q(\sqrt{d})$ , where d is a squarefree integer. (For a review of the algebraic number theory used here, the reader is referred to [3].) If d < 0, K is an imaginary quadratic number field with finitely many units, so there are finitely many algebraic integers with bounded norm. It is thus possible in this case to define the density of a subset of the algebraic integers.

**Definition 3.1.** Let K be an imaginary quadratic number field. The **density** d(A) of a set  $A \subset \mathcal{O}_K$  is

$$d(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|A \cap I_n|}{|I_n|}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where  $I_n = \{m \in \mathcal{O}_K : N(m) \leq n\}$  and N(m) is the norm of m.

Most of our results require unique factorization and so, when studying subsets of algebraic integers of an imaginary quadratic number field which avoid geometric progressions, we must restrict our attention to those imaginary quadratic number fields which have class number 1, of which there are only nine (d = -1, -2, -3, -7, -11, -19, -43, -67, -163). When either unique factorization fails or when K is a real quadratic number field we can instead consider subsets of the ideals of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  which avoid 3-term geometric progressions and obtain similar results about the densities of the ideals in this case which apply to all quadratic number fields. The density of a subset of the ideals of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  is defined similarly.

**Definition 3.2.** Let K be a number field. The density d(A) of a set of ideals A of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  is defined to be

$$d(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|A \cap I_n|}{|I_n|}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where  $I_n = \{ \mathfrak{I} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_K : N(\mathfrak{I}) = |\mathcal{O}_K/\mathfrak{I}| \le n \}.$ 

Before stating our results about the possible densities of sets avoiding geometric progressions, we make a note about progressions with unit ratios. Throughout this paper, we restrict our study of geometric progressions to those progressions,  $\{n, nr, nr^2\}$ , where the ratio, r, is

not a unit in the number field. Over the integers this distinction is made by insisting that every term in a 3-term geometric progression be unique. However, that is not necessarily the case here, since one can find progressions, such as  $\{2, 2i, -2\}$  over the Gaussian integers with ratio *i*, which have unit ratio and distinct terms. Nevertheless, our decision is motivated by the additional structure that progressions with non-unit ratios possess, the fact that each such progression is naturally ordered by starting with the element with least norm, and, most importantly, and the consequence that this choice yields results directly comparable to the ideal case discussed in greater generality below.

Also, note that the norm doesn't totally order the algebraic integers (or ideals) in a number field, and hence the notion of a greedy set is not necessarily well defined, as it is over the integers. However, as we will see, inclusion in the greedy set avoiding geometric progressions depends only on the norm, so all elements with the same norm are either included or excluded. Thus the order in which the elements (integers or ideals) of same norm are taken is irrelevant.

Suppose first that K is an imaginary quadratic number field with class number 1. Then the density of the set,  $G_{K,3} \subset \mathcal{O}_K$  which greedily avoids 3-term geometric progressions with non-unit ratios  $r \in \mathcal{O}_K$  can be found as follows:

**Theorem 3.3.** Let K be an imaginary quadratic number field with class number 1, and let  $f : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined by

$$f(x) = \left(1 - \frac{1}{x}\right) \prod_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(1 + \frac{1}{x^{3^{i}}}\right).$$
(3.3)

Then the density of the greedy set,  $G_{K,3}$ , of algebraic integers which avoid 3-term progressions with non-unit ratios in  $\mathcal{O}_K$  is given by

$$d(G_{K,3}) = \left(\prod_{p \text{ inert}} f(p^2)\right) \left(\prod_{p \text{ splits}} f(p)^2\right) \left(\prod_{p \text{ ramifies}} f(p)\right), \quad (3.4)$$

where the product is taken over rational primes p depending on whether p splits, ramifies or remains inert in K.

Proof. The method of proof is similar to that of Rankin's result. If  $\{n, nr, nr^2\} \subset \mathcal{O}_K$  forms a geometric progression with  $r \in \mathcal{O}_K$  non-zero and a non-unit, then any prime, p, of  $\mathcal{O}_K$ which divides n exactly a times and r exactly b times will appear to the powers a, a + b and a + 2b in the terms of the progression respectively. In particular, these exponents will form an arithmetic progression. So, greedily avoiding geometric progressions amounts to greedily avoiding arithmetic progressions among the exponents of the primes. Thus, as in Rankin's set over the integers, an algebraic integer is included in the greedy set,  $G_{K,3}$ , if and only if the exponents on the primes in its prime factorization come from  $A_3^*$ .

Now, for a fixed prime q of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  we determine, analogously to equation (2.1) over the integers, that the density of the algebraic integers which have an acceptable power of q in their prime factorization is

$$\left(\frac{N(q)-1}{N(q)}\right)\sum_{i\in A_3^*}\frac{1}{N(q)^i} = f(N(q)).$$
(3.5)

So, by the Chinese remainder theorem, the density is now given by a product of factors of f(x), as described above. This product can be converted from a product over the primes in

K to a product over rational primes using the fact that each prime of K lies above a rational prime. The contribution of each rational prime will depend upon whether it remains inert, splits, or ramifies in K.

If a rational prime, p, remains inert in K, then the factor representing this prime is the same as in Rankin's product, with one modification: Instead of p residues mod p, there are now  $N(p) = p^2$  residues modulo p in  $\mathcal{O}_K$ . Thus this prime contributes a factor of  $f(p^2)$  rather than f(p).

If a rational prime, p, splits, it splits into two conjugate primes of norm p, each of which can be raised to different powers and for each we have a factor of f(p). Multiplying these together, the contribution from this kind of rational prime is  $f(p)^2$ .

Finally, if a prime, p, ramifies, it corresponds to exactly one prime of K of norm p. Thus we account for divisibility by powers of this prime with the factor f(p).

Then, as in Rankin's argument, the density of this greedy set serves as a lower bound for the greatest possible density of a set free of this kind of geometric progression. Approximations of the resulting lower bounds in each of the 9 class number 1 imaginary quadratic number fields are given in Table 1.

d	Density of the greedy set
-1	0.762340
-2	0.693857
-3	0.825534
-7	0.674713
-11	0.742670
-19	0.823728
-43	0.898250
-67	0.917371
-163	0.933580

TABLE 1. Density of the greedy set,  $G_{K,3} \subset \mathcal{O}_K$ , of algebraic integers which avoid 3-term geometric progressions with ratios in  $\mathcal{O}_K$  for each of the class number 1 imaginary quadratic number fields  $K = \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})$ .

For the general case of quadratic number fields, we use the Dedekind zeta function in place of the Riemann zeta function. It is defined as follows.

**Definition 3.4.** Let K be an algebraic number field. Then the Dedekind zeta function for K is defined as

$$\zeta_K(s) = \sum_{\mathfrak{I} \subset \mathcal{O}_K} \frac{1}{(N_{K/Q}(\mathfrak{I}))^s}, \qquad (3.6)$$

where  $\mathfrak{I}$  ranges through the non-zero ideals of the ring of integers  $\mathcal{O}_K$  of K and  $N_{K/Q}(\mathfrak{I})$  is the absolute norm of  $\mathfrak{I}$ .

The ring of integers of a quadratic number field is a Dedekind domain so the ideals factor uniquely into prime ideals. Using this unique factorization, the Dedekind zeta function can be expressed as an Euler product over all the prime ideals  $\mathfrak{P}$  of  $\mathcal{O}_K$ , that is

$$\zeta_K(s) = \prod_{\mathfrak{P} \subset \mathcal{O}_K} \frac{1}{1 - (N_{K/Q}(\mathfrak{P}))^{-s}}$$
(3.7)

for Re(s) > 1.

In order to state the result, we will also need the quadratic character of a number field, which is defined as follows.

**Definition 3.5.** Let K be a quadratic field with discriminant  $D_K$ . The quadratic character of K is  $\chi_K : \mathbb{Z}^+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}, \chi_K(m) = (\frac{D_K}{m})$  where  $(\frac{D_K}{m})$  is the Jacobi symbol.

With these definitions in place, the general case of the density of the greedy set of ideals avoiding geometric progressions where the ratios are ideals can now be stated.

**Theorem 3.6.** Let K be a quadratic number field and let  $f : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined by

$$f(x) = \left(1 - \frac{1}{x}\right) \prod_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(1 + \frac{1}{x^{3^{i}}}\right).$$
(3.8)

Then the density of the greedy set of ideals,  $G_{K,3}^*$ , of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  that avoid 3-term geometric progressions with ratio a (non-trivial) ideal of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  is

$$d(G_{K,3}^*) = \frac{1}{\zeta_K(2)} \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{\zeta_K(3^i)}{\zeta_K(2 \cdot 3^i)}.$$
(3.9)

Proof. The method of proof is essentially the same as that of Theorem 3.3. As before, an ideal is in  $G_{K,3}^*$  if and only if the exponents on the primes ideals in its prime factorization appear only with exponents from  $A_3^*$ . For a fixed prime ideal  $\mathfrak{P}$  of  $\mathcal{O}_K$ , the density of the ideals divisible by  $\mathfrak{P}$  is  $1/N(\mathfrak{P})$ , and likewise, the density of ideals exactly divisible by an acceptable power of  $\mathfrak{P}$  is given by  $f(N(\mathfrak{P}))$ . Thus, the density is again given by a product of factors of f(x) as described above. We can likewise write this product as a product over rational primes depending on whether the rational primes remain inert, split, or ramify in K, with the norms behaving exactly as they did in the case of class number 1 imaginary quadratic number fields, so the product has the same structure as that of Theorem 3.3. We now characterize the behavior of the rational primes using the quadratic character. In particular, a prime ideal with  $\chi_K(p) = -1$  remains inert, an ideal with  $\chi_K(p) = 1$  splits, and an ideal with  $\chi_K(p) = 0$  ramifies. So we get that

$$d(G_{K,3}^*) = \left(\prod_{\chi_K(p)=-1} f(p^2)\right) \left(\prod_{\chi_K(p)=1} f(p)^2\right) \left(\prod_{\chi_K(p)=0} f(p)\right)$$

The Euler product (3.7) and the steps used to derive equation (2.2) can be used to transform this product into the product

$$d(G_{K,3}^*) = \frac{1}{\zeta_K(2)} \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{\zeta_K(3^i)}{\zeta_K(2 \cdot 3^i)}$$

in terms of values of the Dedekind zeta function.

3.1. Two Universal Bounds. We can use Theorem 3.6 to give both upper and lower bounds for the density of the greedy set of ideals avoiding 3-term geometric progressions in any quadratic number field. First, an observation:

**Remark 3.7.** Define f(x) as in Theorem 3.6. Then, for all primes p, we have

$$0 < f(p)^{2} < f(p) < f(p^{2}) < 1.$$
(3.10)

With that said, we may proceed.

**Corollary 3.8.** Let K be a quadratic number field, and  $G_{K,3}^*$  the greedy set of ideals of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  that avoid 3-term geometric progressions. Then

$$\prod_{p} f(p)^{2} < d(G_{K,3}^{*}) < \prod_{p} f(p^{2})$$
(3.11)

and approximating these products we find that

$$0.518033 < d(G_{K,3}^*) < 0.939735.$$
(3.12)

*Proof.* We use the remark above to give upper and lower bounds for the product in equation (3.9). By Theorem 3.6, we have

$$d(G_{K,3}^*) = \left(\prod_{\chi_K(p)=-1} f(p^2)\right) \left(\prod_{\chi_K(p)=1} f(p)^2\right) \left(\prod_{\chi_K(p)=0} f(p)\right)$$
  
> 
$$\prod_p f(p)^2 > 0.518033,$$
(3.13)

and likewise

$$d(G_{K,3}^*) < \prod_p f(p^2) < 0.939735.$$
 (3.14)

Note that the inequalities of Corollary 3.8 are strict because it is neither possible for all of the rational primes to split in a quadratic number field nor for all to remain inert. Interestingly, however, we find that the upper bound of inequality (3.11) is achieved by a different greedily constructed set: the greedy set of algebraic integers (or ideals) which avoid progressions where the ratio between consecutive terms is a rational integer, which we will see in Theorem 3.10.

3.2. Greedy Set Avoiding Geometric Progressions with Ratios in  $\mathbb{Z}$ . We consider first the Gaussian integers,  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$ , which are the algebraic integers of the quadratic number field  $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{-1})$ , and look at the subset,  $H^*_{\mathbb{Q}(i),3}$ , chosen greedily to avoid geometric progressions with common ratios contained in  $\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{\pm 1\}$ . For example, the Gaussian integers 3+i, 6+2i, 12+4i form a geometric progression in the Gaussian integers with common ratio 2. We will calculate below the density of this greedy set. Consider the Gaussian integers as lattice points in the complex plane, and note that any geometric progression of Gaussian integers with ratios in  $\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{\pm 1\}$  will lie on a line through the origin with rational slope. Scaling a Gaussian integer by a rational integer twice produces three collinear points. We then characterize the greedy set  $H^*_{\mathbb{Q}(i),3}$  as follows: **Lemma 3.9.** A Gaussian integer a+bi is excluded from  $H^*_{\mathbb{Q}(i),3}$  exactly when it can be written in the form a+bi = k(c+di) where k is an element excluded from  $G^*_3$  and (c,d) = 1.

*Proof.* This follows from the definition of  $G_3^*$  since it greedily avoids rational integral ratios.

Having characterized this greedy set, we can now compute its density.

**Theorem 3.10.** The density of  $H^*_{\mathbb{Q}(i),3}$ , the greedy set of Gaussian integers that avoid geometric progressions with rational integral ratios, is equal to  $\prod_p f(p^2)$ , approximately 0.939735.

*Proof.* Consider a circle of radius R and area A centered about the origin. By Gauss' circle problem [12], the number of lattice points contained in this circle is

$$\pi R^2 + O(R^{1+\epsilon}).$$
 (3.15)

A generalization of Gauss' circle problem to count primitive lattice points – that is, solutions to the equation  $m^2 + n^2 \leq R^2$  with m and n coprime [11] – shows that the number of such solutions is

$$\frac{6}{\pi}R^2 + O(R^{1+\epsilon}). \tag{3.16}$$

Therefore, in the limit as R goes to infinity, we find that the proportion of primitive lattice points tends to  $6/\pi^2$ . By Lemma 3.9 we know that if  $a + bi \in H^*_{\mathbb{Q}(i),3}$  then a + bi = k(c + di), where c + di is a primitive lattice point and  $k \in G^*_3$ .

where c + di is a primitive lattice point and  $k \in G_3^*$ . Suppose  $a + bi \in H^*_{\mathbb{Q}(i),3}$  with  $a^2 + b^2 < R^2$  and let  $k = (a, b) \in G_3^*$ . Then a/k + (b/k)i is a primitive lattice point in a circle of radius R/k and area  $A/k^2$ . Since the proportion of such primitive lattice points tends to  $6/\pi^2$ , each  $k \in G_3^*$  will contribute a factor of  $6/\pi^2 k^2$  to the density of  $H^*_{\mathbb{Q}(i),3}$ . Thus

$$d(H^*_{\mathbb{Q}(i),3}) = \frac{6}{\pi^2} \sum_{k \in G^*_3} \frac{1}{k^2} = \frac{1}{\zeta(2)} \prod_p \sum_{i \in A^*_3} \frac{1}{p^{2i}}$$
$$= \prod_p \left(1 - \frac{1}{p^2}\right) \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \left(1 + \frac{1}{p^{2\cdot 3^i}}\right)$$
$$= \prod_p f(p^2) \approx 0.939735.$$
(3.17)

This result is not unique to the Gaussian integers. For any quadratic number field K, let  $H_{K,3}^*$  denote the greedy set of ideals of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  which avoid progressions whose ratio is an ideal generated by a rational integer. If we use the method of proof of Theorem 3.6, we find that because the ideal generated by each rational prime p has norm  $N(p) = p^2$ , the density of those ideals of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  divisible exactly by an acceptable power of the ideal (p) is  $f(p^2)$ . Thus the Euler product for the density of  $H_{K,3}^*$  behaves as it would in Theorem 3.6 if each prime p remained inert. Thus we have the following generalization of Theorem 3.10:

**Theorem 3.11.** Let K be a quadratic number field. The density of  $H_{K,3}^*$ , the greedy set of ideals of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  which avoid progressions whose ratio is an ideal generated by a rational integer,

$$d(H_{K,3}^*) = \prod_p f(p^2) \approx 0.939735.$$
 (3.18)

#### 4. Bounds on the Upper Density

We now turn our attention back to geometric progressions whose ratios lie in the quadratic number field, and consider the supremum of the upper densities of geometric-progression-free sets in this setting.

4.1. Upper Bounds for the Upper Density. In 1969, Riddell [10] gave the first upper bound for the upper density of a subset of the natural numbers which avoids 3-term geometric progressions. Here we generalize his arguments to give upper bounds for the upper density of a set of algebraic integers (or ideals) which avoid 3-term geometric progressions in a quadratic number field.

Riddell's argument gives an upper bound by excluding the fewest number of integers necessary to avoid progressions with ratios that are a power of 2. We utilize the same argument, replacing the prime 2 with whichever prime in the given number field has the smallest norm. We also need an estimate for how many ideals in our number field that have norm at most x. This is a well studied problem, going back to the work of Dedekind and Weber. It is known (see for example [5, Theorem 5]) that for a quadratic number field, K, the count, N(x, K), of the number of ideals of  $\mathcal{O}_K$  with norm at most x satisfies

$$N(x,K) = \rho_k x + O(x^{1/2}), \qquad (4.1)$$

where  $\rho_K$  is a constant that depends on the number field. In the specific case when  $K = \mathbb{Q}(i)$ ,  $\mathcal{O}_K = \mathbb{Z}[i]$  is the Gaussian integers and every ideal is principal. So  $N(x, \mathbb{Q}(i))$  counts the Gaussian integers with norm up to x, which correspond to lattice points with distance less than  $\sqrt{x}$  from the origin. Thus, in this special case, (4.1) follows from Gauss' circle problem, which tells us the number of integer lattice points contained in a circle centered at the origin with radius r is  $\pi r^2 + O(r)$ . (Note that the error term here can be improved but this suffices for our argument.)

In particular, when K is any of the imaginary quadratic number fields with class number 1, equation (4.1) tells us that the count of the algebraic integers with norm up to x will grow linearly with x.

We can now see how the powers of the smallest prime element of a number field can be used to give an upper bound for the upper density of the set of algebraic integers (ideals) avoiding 3-term geometric progressions. We consider first the representative case of the Gaussian integers.

**Theorem 4.1.** The upper density of a subset of the Gaussian integers avoiding geometric progressions with non-unit ratios contained in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  is at most 0.857143.

Proof. We consider a subset of the Gaussian integers with norm at most M and fix an element  $r \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$  with smallest possible non-unit norm, N(r) = 2. (So r is some associate of 1 + i.) Then, if  $b \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$  is any Gaussian integer coprime to 1 + i with  $N(b) \leq \frac{M}{4}$ , we have that each element in the progression  $\{b, br, br^2\}$  has norm at most M and furthermore that distinct values of b result in disjoint progressions. Thus, we must exclude at least one Gaussian integer with norm at most M for each such value of b.

We can then use Gauss' circle problem to count the number of such b, and so see that the proportion of Gaussian integers excluded in this way is

$$\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{\#b \text{ with } N(b) \le \frac{M}{4}}{\#b \text{ with } N(b) \le M} = \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{\frac{M\pi}{4} + O\left(\sqrt{M}\right)}{M\pi + O\left(\sqrt{M}\right)} = \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{2^2} + O\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{M}}\right), \quad (4.2)$$

or 1/8 in the limit as  $M \to \infty$ . Thus the upper density cannot be greater than 1/8.

This is a crude bound, but we can improve upon it by considering additional progressions. Note that so long as  $N(b) \leq \frac{M}{32}$  each element of a progression of the form  $\{br^3, br^4, br^5\}$  will also have norm at most M, and furthermore these progressions will be disjoint not only from each other but also from the first set of progressions described above. This results in an additional proportion of  $(1/2)(1/2^5)$  Gaussian integers which must be excluded. Continuing this process yields an infinite series which gives the following upper bound:

$$1 - \frac{1}{2^3} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{3n}} = 1 - \frac{\frac{1}{2^3}}{1 - \frac{1}{2^3}} = \frac{6}{7} \approx 0.857143.$$
(4.3)

We can extend this argument to give a corresponding upper bound for the upper density of a subset of algebraic integers in any class number 1 imaginary quadratic number field, or to the upper density of the ideals of any quadratic number field. Using (4.1), we have that the number of algebraic integers (or ideals) with norm less than some given N grows linearly with N. We can therefore apply this same argument, replacing the common ratio, r, with an algebraic integer (or ideal respectively) with least possible non-unit norm. By considering the possible behavior of the rational primes 2 and 3 in the quadratic number field we see that this least non-unit norm must be one of 2, 3, or 4.

In any quadratic number field containing an algebraic integer (ideal) of norm 2, we obtain the same upper bound as for the Gaussian integers,  $6/7 \approx 0.857143$ . In the case where the smallest non-unit element has norm 3, we have that the proportion of excluded elements is bounded above by

$$1 - \frac{2}{3^3} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{3^{3n}} = 1 - \frac{\frac{2}{3^3}}{1 - \frac{1}{3^3}} = \frac{12}{13} \approx 0.923077, \tag{4.4}$$

and in the case where the smallest non-unit element has norm 4, we have that the proportion of excluded elements is bounded above by

$$1 - \frac{3}{4^3} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{4^{3n}} = 1 - \frac{\frac{3}{4^3}}{1 - \frac{1}{4^3}} = \frac{20}{21} \approx 0.952381, \tag{4.5}$$

both by arguments analogous to the case with norm 2.

The results for the class number 1 quadratic fields are summarized in Table 2.

4.2. Improvements on Upper Bounds for the Upper Density. By generalizing Riddell's argument in our new setting, we were able to derive upper bounds for the upper density of sets of ideals containing no three terms in geometric progression. Notice, however, that this argument only takes into account progressions involving a ratio of smallest non-unit norm.

d	Upper Bound	Approximation
-1	6/7	0.857143
-2	6/7	0.857143
-3	12/13	0.923077
-7	6/7	0.857143
-11	12/13	0.923077
-19	20/21	0.952381
-43	20/21	0.952381
-67	20/21	0.952381
-163	20/21	0.952381

TABLE 2. Upper bounds for the upper density of 3-term geometricprogression-free subsets of the algebraic integers in the class number 1 imaginary quadratic number fields,  $\mathbb{Q}\left(\sqrt{d}\right)$ .

We can conceivably improve these bounds by taking into account more possible ratios. We do so, generalizing an argument made over the integers in [4].

For a quadratic number field  $K = \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})$ , and an integer  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we define an element (or ideal) of the ring of integers  $\mathcal{O}_K$  to be *n*-smooth if its factorization into irreducible elements consists entirely of elements with norm at most n.

For the ring of integers in any class number 1 imaginary quadratic number field, we consider the *n*-smooth numbers up to a fixed norm and determine the exact number of integers which must be excluded from this set to ensure that it is progression-free. We derive the following improvement to Theorem 4.1.

**Theorem 4.2.** The upper density of a subset of the Gaussian integers avoiding geometric progressions with non-unit ratios contained in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  is at most 0.85109.

Proof. The 5-smooth elements of  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  consist of those elements whose only prime factors are 1 + i, 2 + i, and 2 - i, that is, the three non-unit irreducible elements in this ring with smallest norm. Define the set  $S_N$  to be the set of all elements of  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  (up to associates) with norm  $\leq N$  such that their prime factorization consists only of these three smallest elements. That is,  $S_N$  is the set of all 5-smooth numbers in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  with norm  $\leq N$ . Considering  $S_4 = \{1, 1 + i, 2\}$  we see that these three elements form a progression, and therefore at least one element must be excluded from  $S_4$  to ensure a set free of geometric progressions. Considering larger values of N, the next additional exclusion occurs when we hit  $S_{20} = \{1, 1 + i, 2, 2 + i, 2 - i, 2 + 2i, 1 + 3i, 3 + i, 4, 4 + 2i, 4 - 2i\}$ , at which point two additional exclusions must be made in order to obtain a set free of geometric progressions, bringing the total number of exclusions necessary up to three.

Now, corresponding to the set  $S_4$ , for any Gaussian integer b such that  $N(b) \leq M/4$  and such that (b, 5 + 5i) = 1 (where 5 + 5i = (1 + i)(2 + i)(2 - i)) we see that from the set  $b \cdot S_4 = \{b, (1 + i)b, 2b\}$  we must necessarily exclude one element, which will have norm at most M. As in Riddell's argument, we see that for distinct values of b the sets  $b \cdot S_4$  are disjoint, and since the proportion of Gaussian integers, b, coprime to 5 + 5i is

$$\frac{(2-1)(5-1)(5-1)}{2\cdot 5\cdot 5} = \frac{16}{50}, \tag{4.6}$$

we must exclude at least

$$\frac{16}{50} \left(\frac{M\pi}{4}\right) + O\left(\sqrt{M}\right) \tag{4.7}$$

of the  $M\pi + O\left(\sqrt{M}\right)$  Gaussian integers with norm at most M, a density of 16/200 = 0.08, which gives us an upper bound of 0.92 for the upper density of a geometric-progression-free set.

Similarly, corresponding to the set  $S_{20}$ , because we must exclude two additional elements corresponding to those b where  $N(b) \leq M/20$ , we get an improved lower bound on the number of excluded elements of

$$\frac{16M\pi}{50} \left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{20}\right) + O\left(\sqrt{M}\right),\tag{4.8}$$

which in turn gives us the upper bound

$$1 - \frac{16}{50} \left( \frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{20} \right) = 0.888.$$
(4.9)

We can continue in this fashion, calculating each value of N for which additional exclusion(s) are needed. The results for the Gaussian integers are summarized in table 3.

N	$\#$ of integers excluded from $S_N$				
4	1				
20	3				
32	4				
64	5				
100	8				
128	9				
160	11				
256	12				
320	14				
500	18				

TABLE 3. Norms up to 500 at which additional exclusions have to be made when avoiding 5-smooth geometric progressions in the Gaussian integers.

Using all these necessary exclusions, we must exclude

$$\frac{16M\pi}{50} \left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2}{20} + \frac{1}{32} + \frac{1}{64} + \frac{3}{100} + \frac{1}{128} + \frac{2}{160} + \frac{1}{256} + \frac{2}{320} + \frac{4}{500}\right) + O\left(\sqrt{M}\right) \quad (4.10)$$

elements. So any geometric-progression-free-subset of the Gaussian integers with norms  $\leq M$  can have size at most  $0.85109M\pi + O(\sqrt{M})$ . Therefore we find an upper bound for the upper density of sets of Gaussian integers containing no three terms in geometric progression to be 0.85109, which is an improvement over the previously computed upper bound of 0.857143.

While this computation was done in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$ , we can easily repeat this approach to find bounds for all other class number 1 imaginary quadratic number fields. In each case we have used

the 3 elements of	smallest no	on-unit norm	and com	puted the	values o	of $N$ at	which	additional
exclusions were re	equired. Th	ne results of t	his comp	utation ar	e sumn	narized	in Tab	le 4.

d	Smallest Non-unit Norms	Upper Bound
-1	2,  5,  5	0.851090
-2	2, 3, 3	0.839699
-3	3, 4, 7	0.910089
-7	2, 2, 7	0.858880
-11	3, 3, 4	0.917581
-19	4,  5,  5	0.949862
-43	4, 9, 11	0.945676
-67	4, 9, 17	0.946772
-163	4, 9, 25	0.946682

TABLE 4. Improved upper bounds for the upper density of a set free of 3-term geometric progressions in each of the class number 1 imaginary quadratic number fields  $\mathbb{Q}\left(\sqrt{d}\right)$ .

4.3. Lower Bounds for the Maximal Upper Density. We next establish lower bounds on the supremum of the upper densities of subsets of imaginary quadratic number fields that avoid geometric progressions by generalizing an argument from [4], also discussed more recently by Nathanson and O'Bryant [7]. For illustration, we first consider the Gaussian integers and construct a subset  $S \subset \mathbb{Z}[i]$  that has a large upper density and that avoids geometric progressions.

Fix a bound M > 0 and note that if  $x_1, x_2$ , and  $x_3$  are Gaussian integers whose norms satisfy  $M/4 < N(x_1) < N(x_2) < N(x_3) \le M$  then  $(x_1, x_2, x_3)$  cannot form a 3-term geometric progression with non-unit ratio in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$ . This is because any non-unit ratio r will have norm  $N(r) \ge 2$ , and hence  $N(x_3) = N(x_1r^2) = N(x_1)N(r)^2 > M$ . Thus, any three elements with norm in the interval (M/4, M] do not comprise a geometric progression. So by including all such elements in S, S can include 3/4 of the Gaussian integers with norm at most M. In fact we can include more elements in S fairly easily, utilizing the fact that the norm of any Gaussian integer lies in  $\mathbb{Z}$ . We can also piece together sets of this sort for widely separated values of M to produce a set avoiding these progressions with high upper density.

**Theorem 4.3.** We have that 0.844662 is a lower bound for the supremum of the upper densities of all subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  which avoid 3-term geometric progressions.

*Proof.* We construct here a set S which has the claimed upper density while avoiding 3-term geometric progressions over the Gaussian integers. Let

$$T_M = \left(\frac{M}{6728}, \frac{M}{6656}\right] \bigcup \left(\frac{M}{3712}, \frac{M}{3364}\right] \bigcup \left(\frac{M}{3328}, \frac{M}{928}\right] \bigcup \left(\frac{M}{841}, \frac{M}{832}\right] \bigcup \left(\frac{M}{32}, \frac{M}{8}\right] \bigcup \left(\frac{M}{4}, M\right]$$
(4.11)

and consider the set

$$S_M = \{x \in \mathbb{Z}[i] : N(x) \in T_M\}.$$
 (4.12)

We have already argued that the set  $\{x \in \mathbb{Z}[i] : N(x) \in (M/4, M]\}$  is free of 3-term geometric

progressions, for a given M, using only the fact that the smallest non-unit ratio is 2. One can similarly check, using the fact that the complete list of the possible norms of Gaussian integers up to 83 is

$$2, 4, 5, 8, 9, 10, 13, 16, 17, 18, 20, 25, 26, 29, 32, 34, 36, 37, 40, \\41, 45, 49, 50, 52, 53, 58, 61, 64, 65, 68, 72, 73, 74, 80, 81, 82,$$

that if any two terms of a geometric progression have norms contained in  $T_M$  above, then the third element's norm must either be greater than M, less than M/6728 or lie in one of the omitted gaps. We can visualize  $S_M$  as the lattice points in a set of six annuli centered about the origin. Applying Gauss' circle problem, it follows that as  $M \to \infty$  the proportion of Gaussian integers (up to norm M) with norm in  $T_M$  is given by

$$\frac{\left(\frac{M\pi}{1} - \frac{M\pi}{4}\right) + \left(\frac{M\pi}{8} - \frac{M\pi}{32}\right) + \left(\frac{M\pi}{832} - \frac{M\pi}{841}\right) + \left(\frac{M\pi}{928} - \frac{M\pi}{3328}\right) + \left(\frac{M\pi}{3364} - \frac{M\pi}{3712}\right) + \left(\frac{M\pi}{6656} - \frac{M\pi}{6728}\right)}{M\pi} \approx 0.844662$$

$$(4.13)$$

We can now construct concentric, expanding sets of six annuli which still avoid geometric progressions in their union. Fix  $M_0 = 1$  and recursively define  $M_i = 6728M_{i-1}^2$  for  $i \ge 1$ . Each  $S_{M_i}$  forms a set of six annuli, with radii increasing as *i* increases. Furthermore, these annuli are sufficiently separated in order to avoid any geometric progressions in their union  $S := \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} S_{M_i}$ . To see this, suppose  $x_1 \in S_{M_j}$  and  $x_2 = x_1 r \in S_{M_k}$  for some  $j \le k$ . We've already argued that if j = k then  $x_3 = x_1 r^2 \notin S_{M_k}$ . Suppose then that  $x_3 \in S_{M_l}$  for some l > k. Then

$$N(r) = \frac{N(x_3)}{N(x_2)} > \frac{\frac{M_{k+1}}{6728}}{M_k} = M_k$$
(4.14)

and so  $N(x_2) = N(x_1r) \ge N(r) > M_k$ . But this contradicts  $x_2 \in S_{M_k}$  and so we cannot have  $x_3 \in S_{M_l}$  for any l.

Therefore, S is free of 3-term geometric progressions by construction and has upper density 0.844662.

The arguments for the other imaginary quadratic number fields follow similarly. Care must be taken to ensure that the intervals  $T_M$  are constructed to avoid introducing progressions with norms in the given imaginary quadratic number field. The results are summarized in Table 5.

d	Intervals Used	Lower
		Bound
-1	$(M/6728, M/6656] \cup (M/3712, M/3364] \cup (M/3328, M/928] \cup$	0.844662
	$(M/841, M/832] \cup (M/32, M/8] \cup (M/4, M]$	
-2	$(M/19008, M/16896] \cup (M/8448, M/2212] \cup (M/48, M/36] \cup$	0.818648
	$(M/32, M/27] \cup (M/24, M/12] \cup (M/9, M/8] \cup (M/4, M]$	
-3	$(M/252, M/63] \cup (M/49, M/36] \cup (M/9, M]$	0.908163
-7	$(M/29696, M/7424] \cup (M/3712, M/928] \cup (M/32, M/8] \cup (M/4, M]$	0.844659
_11	(M/405 M/45] + (M/9 M]	0 908641
11		0.500011
-19	$(M/2816, M/176] \cup (M/16, M]$	0.942826
-43	$(M/1472, M/1377] \cup (M/576, M/208] \cup (M/81, M/64] \cup (M/16, M]$	0.943897
-67	$(M/1024, M/729] \cup (M/576, M/144] \cup (M/81, M/64] \cup (M/16, M]$	0.946382
-163	$(M/2304, M/2025] \cup (M/1600, M/1296] \cup (M/1024, M/729] \cup$	0.946589
	$(M/576, M/144] \cup (M/81, M/64] \cup (M/16, M]$	

TABLE 5. Lower bounds for the supremum of the upper densities of geometricprogression-free subsets of class number 1 imaginary quadratic number fields  $\mathbb{Q}\left(\sqrt{d}\right)$ .

## 5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

In Section 3, we characterized the greedy set of ideals of the ring of integers over a quadratic number field avoiding 3-term geometric progressions, and thus obtained lower bounds for the supremum of the densities of geometric-progression-free sets. We believe, as in the case of the rational integers, that it is possible to construct sets with greater density by considering non-greedy sets.

**Question 5.1.** Is it possible to construct subsets of the integral ideals of a quadratic number field with density greater than that of the greedy set? If so, how much greater?

We have also computed the densities of the greedy sets of ideals containing no 3-term geometric progressions over various quadratic number fields with small discriminant. We include here a plot of the distribution of densities of the greedy sets of ideals in all imaginary quadratic number fields,  $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{-d})$ , with  $1 \leq d \leq 10,000$ . The histogram suggests some interesting structure, and we conjecture that it arises partially from the distribution of elements with small norms in a given number field. It would be interesting to examine the emergent patterns more rigorously.

In Section 4, we generalized arguments by Riddell and by McNew to derive upper and lower bounds for the supremum of the upper densities of geometric-progression-free subsets of a quadratic number field which depend on the splitting behavior of small primes.

The questions we have answered in this paper leave us with many more potential avenues to explore. We end with the following open questions that we find interesting.



FIGURE 1. Distribution of densities of greedy sets of ideals of imaginary quadratic number fields with discriminant at most 10,000.

As mentioned, we restricted our study to geometric progressions whose ratios are non-unit algebraic integers. However, sets free of progressions with different ratios are also of interest and may require different methodologies to study.

**Question 5.2.** How would considering progressions with unit ratios change our results about the possible densities of geometric-progression-free subsets of the algebraic integers in an imaginary quadratic number field?

**Question 5.3.** How would these results change if one considered all progressions with nonunit ratios (not necessarily integral) in an imaginary quadratic number field, or fractionalideal-ratios in an arbitrary quadratic number field?

We note that Rankin's set,  $G_3^*$ , also avoids all geometric progressions over the integers with rational ratio, although to this point we have only used the fact that it avoids integral-ratio geometric progressions. In the same way, over a quadratic number field, K, one finds that the greedy set,  $G_{K,3}^*$ , constructed to avoid progressions with integral-ideal ratio, is also the greedy set avoiding progressions whose ratio is any fractional ideal of K. **Question 5.4.** Is it possible to construct subsets of the ideals of the ring of integers,  $\mathcal{O}_K$ , of a quadratic number field K, avoiding progressions with fractional-ideal-ratio, with density greater than that of the greedy set  $G_{K,3}^*$ ?

On the other hand, the arguments we used to give lower bounds for the supremum of the possible upper densities would no longer apply in the fractional-ideal-ratio case, as they depend on the existence of a minimum norm for a ratio.

Moving beyond quadratic number fields, one can consider geometric-progression-free sets over number fields of higher degree or even over other rings, such as polynomials or matrices. Depending on the ring one considers, one may lose certain useful properties, such as commutativity, associativity, a nice lattice structure, or unique factorization.

**Question 5.5.** What results can be obtained about geometric-progression-free sets over a number field of arbitrary degree? Or over the quaternions? Or over the octonions?

**Question 5.6.** How do these results generalize to sets free of longer geometric progressions?

For other progressions of prime length, the situation should be very similar to the results presented here. However in the case of progressions of composite length the results may be more complicated, as the greedy set of integers avoiding arithmetic progressions of composite length is not so predictable as  $A_3^*$  is.

**Question 5.7.** What can be said about the geometric-progression-free subsets of the algebraic integers (not the ideals) in an imaginary quadratic number field without unique factorization? Can the greedy set be characterized? Can its density be determined?

**Question 5.8.** What issues are introduced when studying geometric-progression-free subsets of a matrix ring, such as  $M_2(\mathbb{Z})$ , which is no longer commutative?

**Question 5.9.** In a more general sense, how does the structure of a ring affect the possible sizes of its geometric-progression-free subsets?

#### References

- M. Beiglböck, V. Bergelson, N. Hindman, and D. Strauss, *Multiplicative structures in additively* large sets, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 113 (2006), no. 7, 1219–1242.
- B. E. Brown and D. M. Gordon, On sequences without geometric progressions, Math. Comp. 65 (1996), no. 216, 1749–1754.
- [3] D. Marcus Number Fields, Springer, 1977.
- [4] N. McNew, On sets of integers which contain no three terms in geometric progression, Math. Comp. 84 (2015), 2893-2910, DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1090/mcom/2979.
- [5] R. Murty and J. Van Order, Counting integral ideals in a number field, Expo. Math. 25 (2007), 53-66.
- [6] M. B. Nathanson and K. O'Bryant, On sequences without geometric progressions, Integers 13 (2013), #A73, 1–5.
- [7] M. B. Nathanson and K. O'Bryant, A Problem of Rankin On Sets Without Geometric Progressions, arXiv preprint arXiv:1408.2880 (2014). http://arxiv.org/pdf/1408.2880
- [8] OEIS Foundation Inc. (2011), The On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences, http://oeis.org.
- R. A. Rankin, Sets of integers containing not more than a given number of terms in arithmetical progression, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 65 (1960/61), 332-344. (26 #95)
- [10] J. Riddell, Sets of integers containing no n terms in geometric progression, Glasgow Math. J. 10 (1969), 137-146. (41 #1677)
- [11] J. Wu, On the primitive circle problem, Monatsh. Math. 135 (2002), 69?81.
- [12] G.H. Hardy, Ramanujan: Twelve Lectures on Subjects Suggested by His Life and Work, 3rd ed. New York: Chelsea, (1999), 67.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY, COLUMBUS, OH 43210 *E-mail address*: best.221@osu.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS, WILLIAMS COLLEGE, WILLIAMSTOWN, MA 01267 *E-mail address*: klh1@williams.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, TOWSON UNIVERSITY, TOWSON, MD 21252 *E-mail address*: nmcnew@towson.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS, WILLIAMS COLLEGE, WILLIAMSTOWN, MA 01267 *E-mail address*: sjm1@williams.edu, Steven.Miller.MC.96@aya.yale.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN, ANN ARBOR, MI 48104 *E-mail address*: jtpowell@umich.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITÉ PIERRE ET MARIE CURIE, PARIS 75005, FRANCE *E-mail address*: kimsy.tor@etu.upmc.fr

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, HARVEY MUDD COLLEGE, CLAREMONT, CA 91711 *E-mail address*: mweinstein@hmc.edu